
 

 

 

 

COUNCIL 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Tuesday, 13th July, 2021 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

Assembly Room, Guildhall 

 
 



2 

COUNCIL  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 

Please note that this is a public meeting, conducting in person at the Guildhall, Worcester, 
between invited participants and live streamed for general access by audio and video via the 
Council’s website. Due to the current Covid 19 pandemic, access to the building where the 

meeting is being held is being restricted to councillors and a small number of supporting officers. 
Members of the public who wish to participate will be invited to join the meeting via remote 
means. 

 
Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public. You can listen or watch a live stream 
of the meeting via the City Council website www.worcester.gov.uk/councillors-democracy. You 

have the right to inspect electronic copies of Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as 
well as background documents used in the preparation of these reports. Details of the background 
papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 

'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that the public may be excluded from the meeting 
and neither reports nor background papers are open to public inspection. 
 

Members of the public and press are permitted to report on the proceedings. "Reporting" in the 
context of this meeting includes making a recording of the live streamed content and providing 
commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 

proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. 
 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is 
allowed for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter 
on the Agenda. Public participation will be via remote means and will extend to video and/or audio 

participation or written submission read aloud at the appropriate point in the meeting by the 
Chair. Participants need to indicate that they wish to take part via remote means by 12 noon on 
the last working day before the meeting by telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. 

A Democratic Services Officer will then contact to advise how to participate by remote means, by 
invitation. Requests to participate received later than this cut-off time may not be accommodated. 
 

If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council, he/she will be 
deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and the video and audio being published 
live to the Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or 

suspend recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the 
meeting or if they consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or 
breach any statutory provision. 

 
If you have any queries about this Agenda, require any details of background papers, or wish to 
discuss the arrangements for public participation please contact Claire Chaplin, Democratic and 

Civic Services Manager, Democratic Services, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 
01905 722005 (direct line); E-Mail Address:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk  
 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages. Please contact the above-named officer for further information. 
 

 



3 

Council 
Tuesday, 13 July 2021 

 

Members of the Council:- 

 

Chair: The Mayor 
 

Councillor Patricia Agar (LCo) 
Councillor Mel Allcott (LD) 

Councillor Mohammad Altaf (C) 
Councillor Alan Amos (C) 
Councillor Bill Amos (C) 

Councillor Jenny Barnes (LCo) 
Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) 

Councillor Marjory Bisset (G) 
Councillor James Carver (C) 
Councillor Owen Cleary (C) 

Councillor Tom Collins (L) 
Councillor Simon Cronin (L) 

Councillor Lynn Denham (L) 
Councillor Allah Ditta (C) 
Councillor Simon Geraghty (C) 

Councillor Adrian Gregson (L) 
Councillor Louise Griffiths (C) 

Councillor Nida Hassan (C) 
 

Councillor Jo Hodges (L) 
Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C) 

Councillor Stephen Hodgson (C) 
Councillor Mike Johnson (C) 
Councillor Matthew Lamb (L) 

Councillor Neil Laurenson (G) 
Councillor Karen Lawrance (LD) 

Councillor Karen Lewing (G) 
Councillor Steve Mackay (C) 
Councillor Chris Mitchell (C) 

Councillor Robyn Norfolk (L) 
Councillor Jabbar Riaz (L) 

Councillor Andrew Roberts (C) 
Councillor Andy Stafford (C) 
Councillor James Stanley (C) 

Councillor Louis Stephen (G) 
Councillor Richard Udall (L) 

 

 

  

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  
LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of the Worcester City Council to be 
held in the Assembly Room, Guildhall on Tuesday, 13th July, 2021 at 7.00 pm at which 

meeting the following business is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

3. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 16 

 Of the Annual Council Meeting and the Extraordinary Meeting held on 18th May 
2021 to be approved and signed. 

 
 

 



4 

4. Mayor's Communications  

 To receive any communications the Mayor may wish to make. 

 

5. Public Participation  

 Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of the public to present a petition, ask a 

question or comment on any matter on the Agenda or within the remit of the 
Council in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10. 

 

6. Questions  

 The Leader of the Council, the Deputy Leader of the Council or the Chair of 
any Committee or Sub-Committee to take any questions that may be 
submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9. 

 

  



5 

7. Notice of Motion  
To consider any Notices of Motion submitted in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 

8.  
 

Pets as Prizes: This Has to Stop  
 
This Council:    

 is concerned about the number of cases reported to the RSPCA each year regarding 
pets given as prizes via fairgrounds, social media and other channels in England, and 

notes the issue predominantly concerns goldfish;  
 is concerned for the welfare of those animals that are being given as prizes;  
 recognises that many cases of pets being as prizes may go unreported each year;    

 supports a move to ban the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on 
Worcester City Council land.    

 
The Council agrees to:   
 ban outright the giving of live animals as prizes, in any form, on Worcester City 

Council land; and  
 mandate the Managing Director to write to the Minister of Animal Welfare, urging an 

outright ban on the giving of live animals as prizes on both public and private land.   
 

Proposed by: Councillor Laurenson 
 
West Mercia Rape Crisis and Sexual Abuse Support Centre 

 
West Mercia Rape Crisis and Sexual Abuse Support Centre is the only organisation in 

Herefordshire and Worcestershire to offer specialist support to the victims of rape and 
sexual violence. Services are free, confidential and non-judgemental and currently 
available to survivors who have experienced any form of rape and/or sexual violence at 

any time in their lives. WMRCSASC offers both telephone advice and face to face 
counselling sessions to survivors of rape and sexual violence, both men and women, 

young and old, and offers a specialist Independent Sexual Violence Advisory Service to 
survivors over the age of 5. The majority of those seen by the service are between the 
ages of 11 and 25. 

 
It is therefore devastating to hear that the service has had to close it’s doors to new 

referrals whilst it clears the backlog of over 400 people currently on the waiting list, with 
a current estimated wait time of over 18 months from referral to a first face to face 
session. Whilst approximately one third of funding for the service comes from the 

Ministry of Justice, and the advocacy service is currently funded by the PCC, there is a 
significant funding gap and it is no longer ethical or sustainable for the service to accept 

new referrals.  
 
This Council notes the hardship that is currently being experienced by WMRCSASC and 

calls on the Managing Director, Director of Homes and Communities, and Leader of the 
Council to work with partners across Worcestershire including MPs, the PCC, the NHS and 

social services in order to assist WMRCSASC in being able to carry out this valuable and 
life saving work.  
 

Proposed by: Councillor Griffiths 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



6 

  

8. Appointment of Members to Committees  

Page(s): 17 - 18 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Claire Chaplin, Democratic and Civic Services Manager 

Tel: 01905 722005 

 That the Council agree to remove Councillor Allcott as a member of Licensing and 
Environmental Health Committee and appoint Councillor Lawrance. 

 

9. Amendment To The Scheme For Members' Allowances 2021/22  

Page(s): 19 - 20 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Claire Chaplin, Democratic and Civic Services Manager 
Tel: 01905 722005 

 That the Council approve the amendment to the Scheme for Members’ Allowances 
2021/22 as set out in the report. 

 

10. Report from the Relevant Committee on Matters which are Referred to 
Council for Decision  

 To receive reports on matters which by law or in accordance with the Constitution 
are referred to Council for decision. 
 

10.1 Referral Report from Policy and Resources Committee - Replacement of Wetside 
Floor Tiles at Perdiswell Leisure Centre  

Page(s): 21 - 30 

Ward(s): Claines 

Contact Officer:  Shane Flynn, Corporate Director, Finance and Resources 

Tel: 01905 722536 

 That the Council agree an amendment to the Capital Programme of up to £182,100 

to meet the costs of the capital works. 

10.2 Referral Report from Standards Committee - Standards Committee Annual Report 
2020/21  

Page(s): 31 - 38 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Sian Stroud, Deputy Director - Governance 

Tel: 01905 722017 

 That the Council receive the Standards Committee Annual Report 2020/21. 

11. Report from the Leader of the Council on any matters which he is of the 
opinion require urgent consideration by The Council  
 To receive a report, if necessary. 

 

12. Items Involving the Disclosure of Exempt Information  



7 

 The Council is invited to pass the following resolution:- 
 

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 

business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
information as defined in Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 

PART II 
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PRIVATE) 

 
13. Any Exempt Issues  

 To consider any exempt matters which might arise. 

 

 
 

David Blake  
Managing Director  
Guildhall  

Worcester WR1 2EY  
Date: 5th July 2021



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNUAL COUNCIL 

 
18th May 2021 

 
Present:  
 

The Retiring Mayor, Councillor Hodges, in 
the Chair 

 
 Councillors Agar, Allcott, Altaf, A. Amos, 

B. Amos, Barnes, Bayliss, Bisset, Carver, 
Cleary, Collins, Cronin, Denham, Ditta, 
Geraghty, Gregson, Griffiths, Hassan, 

Mrs L. Hodgson, S. Hodgson, Johnson, 
Lamb, Laurenson, Lawrance, Lewing, 

Mackay, Mitchell, Norfolk, Riaz, Roberts, 
Stafford, Stanley, Stephen and Udall 

 

The Mayor’s Chaplain, the Reverend Sarah Northall, offered prayers before 
commencement of the formal business of the Council. 

 
1 ELECTION OF MAYOR  

 

Nominations were sought for the position of Mayor. It was proposed by Councillor 
Hassan and seconded by Councillor Mrs Lucy Hodgson that Councillor Stephen 

Hodgson be nominated for the position. Both Councillor Hassan and Councillor Mrs 
Lucy Hodgson spoke in support of the nomination. 
 

The Mayor asked for further nominations. No further nominations were proposed. 
 

On being put to the vote it was agreed and 
 
RESOLVED: That Councillor Stephen Hodgson be elected Mayor for the 

Municipal Year 2021/22. 
 

COUNCILLOR STEPHEN HODGSON IN THE CHAIR 
 

2 MAYOR'S CONSORT/MAYORESS AND PRESENTATION OF BADGE  

 
The Mayor informed the Council that his Mayoress would be his wife, Mrs Lucy 

Hodgson. The Mayor presented her with the Mayoress’s Chain. 
 

3 VOTE OF THANKS TO RETIRING MAYOR  
 
Councillor Gregson proposed a vote of thanks to the retiring Mayor, Councillor 

Hodges, and paid tribute to her work during her year in office on behalf of the 
Council. Councillor Bayliss seconded the proposal and also expressed his thanks. 

 
4 PRESENTATION OF PAST MAYOR'S BADGE  

 

The Mayor presented Councillor Hodges with the Past Mayor’s badge. 
 

5 RESPONSE FROM RETIRING MAYOR  
 
Councillor Hodges thanked the Council and summarised her year in office. She 

gave thanks to her Chaplain, the Reverend Sarah Northall, all Councillors and 
Officers who had supported her throughout her year including Gill Preece, Claire 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



 18th May 2021 2 

 
 

Chaplin, Margaret Johnson and Julian Pugh from Democratic and Civic Services, 

Sian Stroud and Swordbearer Frank Southam. She also thanked her husband, 
Dave Hodges, for his support as Consort. 

 
6 PRESENTATION OF PAST CONSORT'S BADGE  

 

Councillor Hodges presented her husband, Dave Hodges, who had been her 
Consort for the year, with the Past Consort’s badge. 

 
7 ELECTION OF DEPUTY MAYOR  

 

Nominations were sought for the position of Deputy Mayor. It was proposed by 
Councillor Collins and seconded by Councillor Denham that Councillor Gregson be 

nominated for the position of Deputy Mayor. Both Councillor Collins and Councillor 
Denham spoke in support of the nomination. 
 

There were no further nominations. On being put to the vote it was agreed and 
 

RESOLVED: That Councillor Gregson be elected as Deputy Mayor for the 
Municipal Year 2021/22. 
 

8 MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS  
 

Welcome to Newly Elected Members 
The Mayor welcomed Councillors Carver, Cleary, Lawrance, Lewing and Norfolk, to 

their first meeting of the Council.  
 
Past Councillors 

The Mayor invited Councillor Gregson to pay tribute to former Councillors Stalker, 
Squires and Berry, who had not been re-elected. Councillor Gregson spoke and 

expressed his thanks for their service to the Council. Councillor Bayliss also paid 
his own tribute. 
 

Mayor’s Chaplain 
The Mayor announced that his chaplain would be the Reverend Diane Cooksey and 

the Reverend Rosie Moss would accompany her as co-chaplain. 
 
Mayor’s Charities 

The Mayor announced Aspie and the Stroke Association as his charities for the 
year. 

 
Mayoral Theme for the Year 
The Mayor announced his theme for the year as “Coming back together to 

celebrate our great city.”  
 

Dates of Key Civic Events 
The Mayor announced that the Civic Service would be held on 11th July 2021. 
Further information on other events would be released in due course. 

 
9 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
None. 
 

Page 2



 18th May 2021 3 

 
 

 

10 MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 21st March 2021 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Mayor. 
 

11 REPORT OF RETURNING OFFICER  
 

The Council received the report of the Returning Officer that summarised the 
results of the City Council Election held on 6th May 2021. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Council note the result of the City Council Election 
held on Thursday, 6th May 2021 of City Councillors for Wards of Worcester 

City Council. 
 

12 APPOINTMENT OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

 
Nominations were sought for the position of Leader of the Council. It was 

proposed by Councillor Mitchell and seconded by Councillor Gregson that 
Councillor Bayliss be nominated for the position of Leader.  
 

The Mayor asked for any further nominations. No further nominations were 
proposed. On being put to the vote it was 

 
RESOLVED: That the Council agree that Councillor Bayliss be elected to 

the position of Leader of the Council. 
 

13 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY LEADER  

 
The Mayor sought nominations for the position of Deputy Leader of the Council. It 

was proposed by Councillor Bayliss and seconded by Councillor Mitchell that a 
decision be deferred and taken at the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council 
scheduled to take place immediately following this meeting. 

 
On being put to the vote it was 

 
RESOLVED: That the Council agree to defer consideration of the election 
to the position of Deputy Leader of the Council to the Extraordinary 

Meeting of the Council. 
 

14 POLITICAL BALANCE ON COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES  
 
The Council received the report of the Monitoring Officer seeking Council’s 

approval of the allocation of seats between the political groups for the Municipal 
Year 2021/22. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Bayliss and seconded by Councillor Mitchell that a 
decision be deferred and taken at the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council 

scheduled to take place immediately following this meeting. 
 

On being put to the vote it was 
 

Page 3



 18th May 2021 4 

 
 

RESOLVED: That the Council agree to defer consideration of the allocation 

of seats between political groups for the Municipal Year 2021/22 to the 
Extraordinary Meeting of the Council. 

 
15 APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

AND APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRS AND VICE-CHAIRS  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Bayliss and seconded by Councillor Mitchell that a 

decision be deferred and taken at the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council 
scheduled to take place immediately following this meeting. 
 

On being put to the vote it was 
 

RESOLVED: That the Council agree to defer consideration of nominations 
from Group Leaders for the appointment of Members to Committees and 
Sub-Committees, and the appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen to 

those Committees, to the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council. 
 

16 REPORT ON COUNCILLORS' ALLOWANCES  
 
In accordance with the Local Authority (Members’ Allowances) Regulations, the 

Council received a report on allowances paid to Members in the financial year 
2020/21. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Council note the allowances paid to Members in the 

financial year 2020/21. 
 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: 7.25p.m. – 8.25p.m. 

 
 
 

 
Chairman at the meeting on 

13th July 2021 

Page 4



COUNCIL 

 
18th May 2021 

 
Present:  
 

The Mayor, Councillor S. Hodgson, in the 
Chair 

 
 Councillors Agar, Allcott, Altaf, A. Amos, 

B. Amos, Barnes, Bayliss, Bisset, Carver, 
Cleary, Collins, Cronin, Denham, Ditta, 
Geraghty, Gregson, Griffiths, Hassan, 

Hodges, Mrs L. Hodgson, Johnson, Lamb, 
Laurenson, Lawrance, Lewing, Mackay, 

Mitchell, Norfolk, Riaz, Roberts, Stafford, 
Stanley, Stephen and Udall 
 

17 Apologies for Absence  
 

None. 
 

18 Declarations of Interest  

 
None. 

 
19 Public Participation  

 

None. 
 

20 Motion by the Leader of the Council: Amendments to the Constitution and 
Consequential Member Appointments  
 

The Council considered the following Notice of Motion, which had been submitted 
by Councillor Bayliss in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 8: 

 
This Motion proposes some changes to the Council’s Constitution to reflect the 
new political arrangements, following the recent Council elections. 

 
1. Committees 

 
Firstly, it is proposed to enhance the Council’s Policy Committees, by changing the 

Place and Economic Development sub-committee into a full Committee and 
introducing a new Committee for Health and Wellbeing. 
 

Place and Economic Development Committee  

Over the last couple of years the place shaping agenda, and specifically the 

resources from central government to support this policy area, has risen 
significantly.  Worcester’s success in winning the Cultural Development Fund has 

been followed up with £18m from the Future High Streets Fund and, potentially, 
by an even larger regeneration boost from the Towns Fund.  Together these three 
regeneration initiatives equate to almost £50 million in place based regeneration 

and represent a game-changing opportunity for Worcester’s future.  The current 
PED sub-committee has done some important work over recent years in shaping 

our proposals for these competitive bids but the time has come to give this policy 
area the attention and prominence it deserves.  It is therefore proposed that Place 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3
Appendix 1



 18th May 2021 2 

 
 

and Economic Development becomes a full committee of the Council of equal 

standing with Environment and Communities and the newly proposed Health & 
Well-being Committees.  It is proposed that the committee has 11 members and 

enjoys the same freedoms and flexibilities as other main committees.  

Health & Wellbeing Committee  

The pandemic has shown us just how important good health is not just for the 
individual but for community and society as a whole.  There is also a growing 

awareness of health inequalities within and between groups in society and the 
important role that local authorities can play in improving outcomes for all. 

Well-being is also an increasingly important aspect of public policy and while it is 
not easy to define it generally refers to both individual and community and health 

and happiness.  Many councils are now citing well-being as part of their corporate 
objectives and it is in this spirit that well-being is being included within the remit 

of the proposed Health & Well-being Committee of the Council.  

Both Health and Well-being currently form part of the remit of the Communities 

Committee but it is acknowledged that the wide range of topics covered by the 
committee mean that in reality there has been little time to focus upon these 

issues.  It is proposed that this new committee is a full committee of the Council 
and enjoys the same freedoms and flexibilities as other main committees.  It is 
further proposed that the committee has a membership of 11 with the Chair 

drawn from the majority group and the Vice Chair from the smaller parties.   

In terms of policy areas it is proposed that the committee is responsible for:  

 Mental and physical health and wellbeing outcomes for residents and 

customers of the Council; 
 Disability access; 
 Health inequalities; 

 Worcestershire Integrated Care System; 
 Health partnership working. 

Member allowances for the new committees will be applied in accordance with the 
Council’s approved allowances scheme.  

 
2. Deputy Leader 

 
Secondly, a change to the Articles is proposed in relation to the appointment of 
the Deputy Leader. 

 
The current constitution was approved during a period of no overall control when 

it was important to ensure that political decisions and responsibilities were shared 
by the two largest groups on the Council.  To that end, it was agreed as part of 
the Group Leaders Protocol that while the Leader would come from the largest 

group the Deputy Leader would be appointed by the next largest party.  With the 
Conservatives now attaining a majority on the Council there is no longer a need 

for the sharing of the Leadership positions.  It is therefore recommended to 
Council that the Articles be amended so that the requirement for the Deputy 
Leader to come from another party to the Leader is removed. 

 
 

 

Page 6



 18th May 2021 3 

 
 

3. Deputy Mayor 

 
Thirdly, a change to the Council Rules of Procedure is proposed in relation to the 

restriction on the Deputy Mayor being involved in the chairing of a committee. The 
role of Deputy Mayor is exactly that, to deputise for the Mayor when he or she is 
unable to fulfil their duties. Ordinarily, the Deputy Mayor is called on infrequently 

during the course of the Mayor’s year.  
 

Currently the Constitution prevents the Deputy Mayor from being chair or vice 
chair of a Council committee. It is proposed that this is too restrictive, in practice, 
and that therefore the Deputy Mayor should be permitted to serve as vice chair of 

a Council committee. 
 

4. Group Leaders Protocol 
 
The Group Leaders Protocol was adopted in 2017 when the Committee system 

was introduced with the aim of supporting effective political arrangements. Some 
changes to the Protocol are now proposed to reflect the new political balance 

while retaining the spirit of co-operation between Political Groups. The main 
changes proposed are: 
 

 each Committee will be chaired by a Conservative councillor; 
 Vice Chairs of the Policy Committees will be appointed from the other 

Political Groups; and 
 the Deputy Leader may be appointed from the Conservative Group. 

 
Therefore, Council agrees that, with immediate effect: 
 

1. The Articles, Part 2 of the Constitution, be amended in the terms set out in 
Appendix 1, so that the requirement for the Deputy Leader to come from 

another party to the Leader is removed; 
 

2. The Responsibility for Functions, Part 3 of the Constitution, be amended in 

the terms set out in Appendix 2, to create the Place and Economic 
Development Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Committee; 

 
3. The Council Procedure Rules, Part 4 of the Constitution, be amended in the 

terms set out in Appendix 3, to enable the Deputy Mayor to be eligible to be 

vice chair of a Council committee; 
 

4. The Group Leaders Protocol, Part 15 of the Constitution, is amended to 
reflect the new political control of the Council and the revised version set 
out in Appendix 4 is now adopted; 

 
5. The Monitoring Officer is instructed to make any consequential amendments 

to the Constitution to give effect to these decisions; 
 

6. The Council now proceed to appoint the Deputy Leader and the Members to 

Committees in accordance with these new arrangements. 
 

The proposer, Councillor Bayliss, spoke in support of the Motion. By way of 
clarification, Councillor Bayliss stated that the Council was also recommended to 

Page 7



 18th May 2021 4 

 
 

agree the payment of Special Responsibility Allowances to Members arising from 

the proposals. 
 

The Motion was seconded by Councillor Geraghty. 
 
Members of the Council proceeded to vote separately on items 1 – 5 above. Each 

motion was put to the vote and was agreed and it was 
 
RESOLVED: That the Council agree that: 

1. The Articles, Part 2 of the Constitution, be amended in the terms set 

out in Appendix 1, so that the requirement for the Deputy Leader to 
come from another party to the Leader is removed; 

 
2. The Responsibility for Functions, Part 3 of the Constitution, be 

amended in the terms set out in Appendix 2, to create the Place and 
Economic Development Committee and the Health and Wellbeing 
Committee; 

 
3. The Council Procedure Rules, Part 4 of the Constitution, be amended 

in the terms set out in Appendix 3, to enable the Deputy Mayor to be 
eligible to be vice chair of a Council committee; 

 

4. The Group Leaders Protocol, Part 15 of the Constitution, is amended 
to reflect the new political control of the Council and the revised 

version set out in Appendix 4 is now adopted; 
 
5. The Monitoring Officer is instructed to make any consequential 

amendments to the Constitution to give effect to these decisions and 
that the Council agree any consequential changes to the payment of 

Special Responsibility Allowances to Members of Committees; and 
 
6. The Council now proceed to appoint the Deputy Leader and the 

Members to Committees in accordance with these new arrangements. 
 

21 Appointment of Deputy Leader of the Council  
 
Consideration of this item had been deferred at the Annual Council meeting. 

 
Pursuant to resolution 6 of item 20 above, the Council proceeded to consider the 

appointment of the Deputy Leader of the Council for the Municipal Year 2021/22. 
Nominations were sought for the position. It was proposed by Councillor Bayliss 
and seconded by Councillor Stanley that Councillor Mitchell be nominated for the 

position of Deputy Leader.  
 

The Mayor asked for any further nominations. No further nominations were 
proposed. On being put to the vote it was 
 

RESOLVED: That the Council agree that Councillor Mitchell be elected to 
the position of Deputy Leader of the Council. 

 
22 Political Balance on Committees and Sub-Committees  

 
Consideration of this item had been deferred at the Annual Council meeting. 

Page 8



 18th May 2021 5 

 
 

 

The Council received the report of the Monitoring Officer seeking Council’s 
approval of the allocation of seats between the political groups for the Municipal 

Year 2021/22. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Council agree the allocation of seats between 

political groups for the Municipal Year 2021/22 as set out in Appendix 1 
of the minutes. 

 
23 Appointment of Members to Committees and Sub-Committees and 

Appointment of Chairs and Vice-Chairs Etc.  

 
Consideration of this item had been deferred at the Annual Council meeting. 

 
The Council received details of nominations from Group Leaders for the 
appointment of Members to Policy Committees, Regulatory Committees, Joint 

Committees and Other Bodies. The Council considered the appointment of 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen to those Committees. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Council approve the appointment of Members to 
Policy Committees, Regulatory Committees, Joint Committees and Other 

Bodies and the appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen as set out in 
Appendix 2 of the minutes. 

 
 

 
 
 

Duration of the meeting: 8.30p.m. – 9.05p.m. 
 

 
 
 

Chairman at the meeting on 
13th July 2021 

Page 9



 

24 Appendix 1  
 

          

Committee 
Overall Allocations (Gateway 
2) 

 Allocations by Committee 
(Gateway 3) 

 

          

 

 
Con % Lab % 

Green 
% 

 
Lib 
Dem 
% 

Title 
New 
Membership Con Lab Green 

 
Lib 
Dem    

 

Policy & 
Resources 13 7 4 1 1 53.8 30.8 7.7 7.7 

Income 
Generation  5 3 1 1 0 60.0 20.0 20.0 0.0 

Personnel & 
General 
Purposes 7 4 2 1 0 57.1 28.6 14.3 0.0 

Communities 11 6 4 1 0 54.5 36.4 9.1 0.0 

Environment 11 6 4 1 0 54.5 36.4 9.1 0.0 

Health & 
Wellbeing 11 6 4 0 1 54.5 36.4 0.0 9.1 

Place & 
Economic 
Development 11 6 4 1 0 54.5 36.4 9.1 0.0 

Planning 11 6 3 1 1 54.5 27.3 9.1 9.1 

Licensing & 
Environmental 
Health 11 6 3 1 1 54.5 27.3 9.1 9.1 

Audit & 
Governance  7 4 2 1 0 57.1 28.6 14.3 0.0 

Standards 7 4 1 1 1 57.1 14.3 14.3 14.3 

Actual Seats 105 58 32 10 5        

Actual % 100.00% 55.2% 30.5% 9.5% 4.8%        

Target % 100.00% 51.4% 31.4% 11.4% 5.7%        

     

 

   

 

Group Members Target Actual 
 

 
   

 

Conservative 18 51.4% 55.2% 
 

 
   

 

Labour 11 31.4% 30.5% 
 

 
   

 

Green 4 11.4% 9.5% 
 

 
   

 
Liberal 
Democrat 2 5.7% 4.8% 

 

 

   

 

 
 

Page 10



 18th May 2021 7 

 
 

 
25 Appendix 2  

 

Policy Committees 
 

POLICY & RESOURCES - MEMBERSHIP OF 13 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (7) LABOUR (4) GREEN (1) 

 

LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT (1) 

Councillor Bayliss 

(Chair) 

Councillor 

Denham 

Councillor 

Stephen (Vice-
Chair) 

Councillor Allcott 

Councillor Griffiths Councillor 
Gregson (Vice-
Chair) 

  

Councillor Lucy 
Hodgson 

Councillor 
Hodges 

  

Councillor Mackay Councillor Riaz    

Councillor Mitchell    

Councillor Stafford    

Councillor Stanley    

COMMUNITIES – MEMBERSHIP OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (4) GREEN (1) 

 

LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Bill Amos Councillor Collins Councillor Bisset  

Councillor Carver Councillor 
Denham 

  

Councillor Hassan Councillor Lamb   

Councillor Stephen 

Hodgson 

Councillor Riaz 

(Vice-Chair) 

  

Councillor Johnson     

Councillor Stanley 
(Chair) 

   

Page 11



 18th May 2021 8 

 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR GREEN 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

ENVIRONMENT – MEMBERSHIP OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (4) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Altaf Councillor Collins 
(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor 
Laurenson 

 

Councillor Bill Amos Councillor Cronin   

Councillor Cleary Councillor 
Norfolk 

  

Councillor Griffiths Councillor Udall   

Councillor Roberts    

Councillor Stafford 
(Chair) 

   

HEALTH AND WELLBEING – MEMBERSHIP OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (4) GREEN 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT (1) 

Councillor Ditta Councillor 
Denham (Vice-

Chair) 

 Councillor 
Lawrance 

Councillor Griffiths 

(Chair) 

Councillor 

Norfolk 

  

Councillor Lucy 

Hodgson 

Councillor Riaz   

Councillor Stephen 
Hodgson 

Councillor Udall   

Councillor Johnson    

Councillor Mackay    

PLACE & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT– MEMBERSHIP 

OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (4) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Alan Amos Councillor Agar Councillor Lewing  

Councillor Carver Councillor 

Gregson 

  

Councillor Cleary Councillor 

Hodges (Vice-
Chair) 

  

Councillor Geraghty Councillor 
Norfolk 

  

Councillor Lucy 
Hodgson (Chair) 

   

Councillor Stanley    

Page 12



 18th May 2021 9 

 
 

 

INCOME GENERATION SUB – MEMBERSHIP OF 5 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (3) LABOUR (1) GREEN (1) 

 

LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Mackay 

(Chair) 

Councillor Riaz 

(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor 

Stephen 

 

Councillor Mitchell    

Councillor Stafford    

PERSONNEL & GENERAL PURPOSES SUB – 

MEMBERSHIP OF 7 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (4) LABOUR (2) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Bayliss Councillor 
Denham 

Councillor 
Stephen 

 

Councillor Lucy 
Hodgson 

Councillor 
Gregson (Vice-

Chair) 

  

Councillor Mitchell 

(Chair) 

   

Councillor Stanley     

 

Page 13



 18th May 2021 10 

 
 

Regulatory Committees 
 

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR GREEN 

 

LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT 

PLANNING - MEMBERSHIP OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (3) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT (1) 

Councillor Alan Amos Councillor Agar 
(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Bisset Councillor Allcott 

Councillor Bill Amos Councillor 
Barnes 

  

Councillor Cleary Councillor 
Hodges 

  

Councillor Ditta    

Councillor Johnson 
(Chair) 

   

Councillor Roberts    

LICENSING & ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH – 
MEMBERSHIP OF 11 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE (6) LABOUR (3) GREEN (1) 

 

LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT (1) 

Councillor Carver Councillor 

Barnes 

Councillor Lewing Councillor Allcott 

Councillor Ditta 

(Chair) 

Councillor Cronin   

Councillor Hassan 

(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Udall   

Councillor Mitchell    

Councillor Stafford    

Councillor Stanley    

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE – MEMBERSHIP OF 7  

CONSERVATIVE (4) LABOUR (2) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Alan Amos 
(Chair) 

Councillor Agar Councillor 
Laurenson 

 

Councillor Bayliss Councillor 
Barnes (Vice-
Chair) 

  

Councillor Hassan     

Councillor Johnson    

Page 14



 18th May 2021 11 

 
 

 

STANDARDS – MEMBERSHIP OF 7 (plus up to 3 
Co-opted Members and 4 Parish Council 

Representatives,2 from each Parish Council) 

 

CONSERVATIVE (4) LABOUR (1) GREEN (1) 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT (1) 

Councillor Alan Amos Councillor Lamb 
(Vice-Chair) 

Councillor 
Stephen 

Councillor 
Lawrance 

Councillor Mackay    

Councillor Mitchell    

Councillor Roberts 
(Chair) 

   

Independent Members 

Mr Ray Needham  

Parish Council Representatives 

St. Peter the Great Parish  -   Mr Roger Knight 
St. Peter the Great Parish  - Mr Alan Tidy 

Warndon Parish   - Mr Dave Carney 
Warndon Parish   - Mrs Dawn Merriman 

 

Other Bodies 
 

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR GREEN LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

JOINT MUSEUMS COMMITTEE – MEMBERSHIP OF 
2 

 

 

Councillor Lucy 

Hodgson 

Councillor Agar   

WORCESTERSHIRE REGULATORY SERVICES 

BOARD – MEMBERSHIP OF 2 
 

 

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR GREEN LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Carver Councillor Udall   

JOINT CONSULTATIVE & SAFETY COMMITTEE – 
MEMBERSHIP OF 4 

 

 

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR GREEN LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT 

Councillor Bayliss 

Councillor Lucy 
Hodgson 

Councillor 

Denham 
Councillor 

Gregson  

  

 

 
 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 

 
 

Report to: Council, 13th July 2021 
 

Report of: Leader of the Council 
 

 
Subject: APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO COMMITTEES  

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Council agree to remove Councillor Allcott as a member of 
Licensing and Environmental Health Committee and appoint Councillor 

Lawrance. 
 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Annual Council on 18th May 2021 approved the appointment of Members to Policy 

Committees, Regulatory Committees, Joint Committees and Other Bodies, as set out 
in Appendix 2 of the minutes. 

2.2 Since that meeting, a request has been submitted to amend the Liberal Democrat 
membership on Licensing and Environmental Health Committee. The proposal is to 
remove Councillor Allcott as a member and appoint Councillor Lawrance.   

 
2.3 In accordance with Part 2, Article 4.2 of the Constitution, appointing and removing 

Members to and from Committees is a matter reserved to full Council, unless 
delegated by the Council. 

 

 
 

 
Ward(s):   All 
Contact Officer: Claire Chaplin, Democratic and Civic Services Manager - 

 Tel: 01905 722005, Email: 
claire.chaplin@worcester.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None  
 

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report to: Council, 13th July 2021 
 

Report of: Monitoring Officer  
 

 
Subject: AMENDMENT TO THE SCHEME FOR MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 2021/22 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Council approve the amendment to the Scheme for Members’ 
Allowances 2021/22 as set out in the report.  
 

 

2. Introduction / Background  
 

2.1 At its Meeting on 23rd February 2021 following consideration of the Independent 
 Renumeration Panel’s recommendations Council agreed to adopt a Scheme for 
 Members’ Allowances for 2021/22.  

2.2 For 2021/22 the Council did not agree a Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA)   
for the Vice Chair role of Policy and Resources in accordance with the Panel’s 

recommendation that Members should only receive one SRA payment.  

2.3 As at 23rd February 2021 the Vice Chairs of Policy and Resources Committee being 
 Councillors’ Bayliss and Gregson were already in receipt of an SRA so did not receive 

 a Vice Chair payment for the role.  

2.4 Following the Local Elections on 7th May 2021 the political balance of the Council 

 changed and subsequently changes to the appointment of the Deputy Leader role, 
 membership on Committees and the appointment of Chairs and Vice Chairs were 
 agreed by Council at its meeting on 18th May 2021.   

2.5 At this meeting, Councillors Gregson and Stephen were appointed to the Vice Chair 
role of Policy and Resources Committee meaning that both are now carrying out one 

special responsibility function.    

3. Preferred Option  

 
3.1 In accordance with the Panel’s recommendation that Members should only receive 
 one SRA payment it is proposed that Councillors’ Gregson and Stephen receive the 

 SRA of £4,474 agreed by the Council on 23rd February 2021 for the Vice Chair role of 
 Policy  Committees.   

3.2 Council are asked to approve the amendment to the Scheme for Members’ 
 Allowances 2021/22 to facilitate these payments.  

 

 

Page 19 Agenda Item 9



 

 
4. Implications 

 
4.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 
 The full year effect of the two Vice Chair payments amounts to £3,355.  

4.2 Legal and Governance Implications 
The Council is obliged to have regard to the recommendations of the IRP and adopt a 

Members’ Allowance Scheme as set out in Part 6 of the Constitution. 
 

4.3 Risk Implications 
None directly arising from this report.  
 

4.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 
 None directly arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Equality Implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 
4.6 Human Resources Implications 

None directly arising from this report. 
 

4.7 Health and Safety Implications 

None directly arising from this report. 
 

4.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 
None directly arising from this report. 

 

 
Ward(s):   All wards 

Contact Officer: Claire Chaplin, Democratic and Civic Services Manager  
 Tel. No. 01905 722005 

Email: claire.chaplin@worcester.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None  
 

Page 20



 

 
 

Report to: Council, 13th July 2021 
 

Report of: Leader of the Council 
 

 
Subject: REFERRAL REPORT FROM POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 

REPLACEMENT OF WETSIDE FLOOR TILES AT PERDISWELL LEISURE 
CENTRE 

 

1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Council agree an amendment to the Capital Programme of up to 
£182,100 to meet the costs of the capital works. 

 
2. Background 
 

2.1 The Policy and Resources Committee at its meeting on 8th June 2021 considered a 
report on the procurement of contractors to replace the wetside floor tiles at 

Perdiswell Leisure Centre. The Committee agreed the proposal, as set out in the 
report. 

2.2 The costs of replacing the tiles is estimated to be up to £154,000 plus a further 

£28,100 in consultants and cleaning fees, giving a total estimated capital cost of 
£182,100. An amendment to the capital programme is required. 

 
2.3 In accordance with the Constitution, changes to the Policy and Budgetary Framework 

are reserved to full Council to determine. 

 
3. Information  

 
3.1 The Committee Report is attached for information.  

 

Ward(s):   Claines 
Contact Officer: Shane Flynn, Corporate Director - Finance and Resources 

Tel: 01905 722536; email: shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None  

  

 

 

 

  

Page 21 Agenda Item 10a

mailto:shane.flynn@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report to: Policy and Resources Committee, 8th June 2021 
 
Report of: Corporate Director - Homes and Communities 

 

 
Subject:  REPLACEMENT OF WETSIDE FLOOR TILES AT PERDISWELL LEISURE 

CENTRE 
 
1. Recommendation 

 
That the Committee:  

 
1.1 Authorises the Corporate Director of Homes and Communities and Corporate 

Director Finance and Resources to procure contractors to replace the 

wetside floor tiles at Perdiswell Leisure Centre; 
 

1.2 Recommends to Council an amendment to the Capital programme of up to 
£182,100 to meet the costs of the capital works; and 

 

1.3 Notes that the potential loss of income to Freedom Leisure and the Council 
during the works closure period will be funded by the Council’s Income 

Contingency Reserve. 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The performance of the wetside tiles at Perdiswell Leisure Centre pool has been the 

subject of close attention and monitoring since the facility opened in 2017. While all 
poolsides inevitably offer some degree of slipperiness, the performance quality of the 

surface at Perdiswell has been questionable. Although no major safety concerns or 
incidents have been identified since the pool has been in operation, nevertheless the 
number of near misses, recorded incidents and feedback from users has caused the 

issue to remain a matter for regular discussion and intervention by the Council and 
Freedom Leisure. 

 
2.2 In order to understand the reasons for this and to determine appropriate actions to 

address it, a process of testing and trialling of solutions was introduced during 2019-

2020. Related costs of this process are set out for information in Appendix 1. These 
costs have been met from existing budgets and approvals.  The actions are detailed 

as follows: . 
 

 Met on site with the original tile manufacturer to ascertain their professional 
opinion as to what has caused the issue, which in their opinion was caused by an 

inappropriate cleaning regime. 
 

 Ensured that Freedom Leisure are complying with the cleaning instructions in the 
building Operation & Maintenance manuals provided by the building contractor as 

part of the hand over process. 
 

 Arranged staff training for Freedom personnel on the specific use of the 

recommended Bonasystems cleaning products. 

Page 23 Agenda Item 10a
Appendix 1



 

 
 Arranged overnight deep cleans with Freedom Leisure staff. 

 
 Undertook unannounced independent Pendulum Test Values (PTV’s - the industry 

recognised test for determining the risk of slips occurring) to check the 

performance of the floor and the impact of the Freedom Leisure cleaning 
schedule.  

 
 Undertook pre-arranged independent PTV’s following overnight deep clean by 

Freedom Leisure operatives to monitor the impact.  

 
 Had a batch of the original tiles that were in store independently Pendulum 

tested under laboratory conditions which confirmed that they were ‘fit for 
purpose’ at the point of installation.  
 

 Arranged for the SafeGroup to carry out a professional deep clean of the higher 
risk areas of the changing village and poolside areas using industrial strength 

products in the Bonasystems range that are not usually available on the market 
to leisure operators. The average PTV scores prior to the deep clean were 28 in 
the changing village and 22 in the poolside areas.  

 

 The intention was to then apply a coating of Bonasystems Grip (the leading anti-
slip treatment for the Leisure sector) but unfortunately when applying to a test 

patch the chemical reacted with the dark grey tiles in the changing village to  
create an inconsistent discolouration. As an average pendulum test score of 49 

was recorded from the professional deep clean alone, this was still significantly 
above the target threshold score of 36, at which the risk of a slip occurring is 
rated at 1-1,000,000. Therefore, the anti-slip coating was not applied in this 

area. 

 In the poolside areas identified as higher risk the pendulum test scores upon 
completion of the professional deep clean only reached a range of 32-34, and as 
the anti-slip treatment did not react on the light green in the same way as it did 

on the grey tiles the treatment was applied, raising the final average PTV to an 
average score of 59 when tested across six locations within the area. 

 

2.3 Following the end of lockdown 1 Perdiswell Leisure Centre re-opened to the public on 
the 25th July 2020 and the performance of the floor in the first few weeks was 

encouraging. However, following only 11 near misses being recorded during the 
months of August and September this quickly escalated during the month of October 
when 57 near misses were witnessed and recorded by poolside staff. 

 

2.4 Following dialogue between the Council and Freedom Leisure it was agreed that the 
only likely long-term solution to the problem would be the replacement of the 

existing floor. 
 

2.5 As a short term solution, the Safe Group returned to site and carried out the same 

treatment programme as on their original visit with the added extra that on this 
occasion they also treated the dark grey tiles along the main thoroughfare in the 
changing village as the unanimous view of the Council and Freedom Leisure was that 

a safe floor was the main priority, even if visually the appearance of the floor was 
inconsistent in the medium term until the replacement tiles were installed.  

 

2.6 Upon completion of the works a series of pendulum tests were carried out with the 
following results: 

Page 24



 

 

 Average score from eight locations around the changing village (grey tile) was 47 
while the average score from eleven locations around the poolside areas (green 

tile) was also 47 with a score range across the 19 locations of 40-60PTV. Whilst 
all locations tested above the minimum threshold of 36 PTV to be classified as 
low risk ten of the locations scored between 40-43 (7 of which were poolside 

locations) so these areas could potentially slip back below the minimum 
threshold and into the moderate risk category relatively quickly. 

 
 Council Officers and representatives from Freedom Leisure then met on site on 

the 1st December to assess the current position. 
 

2.7 Following lockdown 2 from the 5th November 2020, Perdiswell Leisure Centre re-
opened again on the 2nd December 2020. 

 

2.8 Council officers and Freedom Leisure have been researching the quality of tile 
finishes at other facilities and particularly those with the same make and model of 

tile. The outcome of this work is set out in the private Appendix which contains 
commercially sensitive information.  

 
2.9 As a result of this work, in collaboration with Freedom Leisure, the following actions 

were agreed by Council officers: 

 

 Despite the closure of the leisure facilities again as a result of lockdown 3 
(effective from the 5th January to 11th April 2021 inclusive) Council officers were 

able to arrange for an independent pendulum test carried out by National Testing 
Services (NTS) to take place on the 8th January 2021 to determine whether a 

deterioration had taken place in the performance of the floor during the month of 
December, following the Safe Group treatment prior to re-opening (2nd Dec) after 
lockdown 2. This also provides a benchmark position against which we can 

measure the revised cleaning regime. 
 

 The results of the report from NTS highlighted a sharp decline in the performance 

of the floor since the professional deep clean and anti-slip treatment in late 
November with some areas presenting a slip risk identified as being in the 1-2 
and 1-20 slip risk categories. 

 

 For re-opening after lockdown 3 on Monday 12th April Freedom Leisure have 
installed anti-slip safety matting throughout the changing village and poolside 

areas. However, this has implications due to the increase of cleaning hours 
required to clean both the matting and the floor underneath and as a result 

Freedom Leisure have provided additional cleaning resources to provide for late 
evening cleaning of the changing village and poolside areas (two personnel from 
9-10.30pm Monday to Friday). 

3. Preferred Option  
 

3.1 The report sets out all the actions which have been taken to mitigate the risk of slips 
related to the tiles. It is suggested that these actions have now effectively been 
exhausted, or that to continue them will sustain an ongoing cost and cleaning burden 

the Council and Freedom Leisure which is not a good value solution. Therefore the 
preferred option now is to replace the floor tiles throughout the changing village and 

poolside areas with a product that has been recommended by Freedom Leisure and 
that has been tried and tested in situ at another similar facility for a minimum period 

Page 25



 

of 18 months elsewhere within their UK portfolio. While the knowledge and 
experience gained from other Freedom Leisure sites will be very valuable, the 

Council will also ensure that the selection of tiles and their installation is delivered by 
suitably qualified independent professionals, with warranties given for advice and 
works completed. 

3.2 It is recommended that the work is programmed to take place over the October- 
December 2021 period, with the work in two phases. The period of time that the 

pool will actually need to be closed during these works is estimated to be 2-3 weeks.  

3.3 Phase 1 works would focus on the changing village and allow the pool hall to remain 
open for use, with customers using the adjacent dry side changing rooms and 

accessing poolside via the Changing Places Changing Room. 

3.4 Phase 2 works would require a complete closure whilst the poolside areas are 

refurbished. Under normal conditions the duration of the work required in both 
phases is likely to be a combined total of 12 weeks (+/- 2 weeks either way) 
although officers will work to reduce this with extended working hours during the 

phase 2 works if possible, or an alternative hybrid arrangement. 

3.5 The costs of undertaking the works and the potential loss of income during the 

closure period are estimated to be £302,100. Costs are broken down in more detail  
in Appendix 1. It is possible that these costs would vary if the work programme 
changes significantly. 

4. Alternative Options Considered 
 

4.1 To replace the floor tiles throughout the changing village and poolside areas with the 
profiled tile that have been in situ in the rear shower area and pre-swim shower 
area, where no incidents or accidents have been reported since the facility opened in 

2017. This is considered to be unsuitable due to the restricted footfall using the area 
resulting it not being tried and tested.  

 
4.2 The permanent use of anti-slip matting is not considered to be a sustainable long-

term solution due to the significant increase in day to day cleaning tasks and manual 
handling requirements. Also over time the condition of the matting will deteriorate 
and create a separate trip hazard resulting in the need for replacement. 

 
4.3 Further floor treatments are not recommended as those tried to date have proved 

ineffective even as a short-term solution and the cost implications of regularly re-
treating the floor is substantial. 

5. Implications 

 
5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 

 
The costs incurred to date of assessing the problems with the tiles and trialling 
solutions are as set out in Appendix 1. These have been met from existing budgets 

and approvals. 
 

The costs of replacing the tiles is estimated to be up to £154,000 plus a further 
£28,100 in consultants and cleaning fees, giving a total estimated capital cost of 
£182,100. An amendment to the capital programme is required. In the event that 

these costs are met in full from borrowing there will be an estimated annual revenue 
impact of £9,200, including Minimum Revenue Provision, based on a 25-year lifespan 

at current PWLB rates. 

Page 26



 

 
Undertaking the capital works will require the pool to be closed for a period. It is 

estimated that this will result in loss of income of £120,000. However, Freedom 
Leisure has indicated that the income loss may be reduced if the work is scheduled 
over periods of least use. The income loss will fall to the Income Contingency 

reserve, which has a balance of £494,621 at 31 March 2021. 
 

5.2 Legal and Governance Implications 
 
Legal advice is set out in the private appendix on the Council’s prospects for 

recovery of its costs from third parties involved in the supply of the tiles. 
 

The Council has duties under the Health and Safety At Work Act 1974 and related 
legislation to ensure its facilities remain safe for visitors, contractors and employees. 
 

The Council will undertake a procurement of consultants and contractors to advise 
on replacement tiles and complete the installation. These contractors will be set up 

to provide the Council with appropriate warranties and insurance cover in the event 
of any future performance issues arising.  

 

5.3 Risk Implications 
 

A detailed explanation of the risk implications is set out in the private appendix to 
this report. 
 

Council officers are satisfied that with the proactive steps taken to date, the pool 
remains safe for use. However, to maintain the existing tiled floor in a safe condition 

has proven expensive both from a cost and time perspective and this has only 
enabled the risk of slips, trips and falls occurring to be managed at an acceptable 

level in the short term. Incidents logged by poolside staff continued to increase 
during open periods between lockdowns and whilst the safety matting will help to 
manage that risk in the short term, it is not considered an appropriate long-term 

solution. 
 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 
     

None arising directly from this report. 

 
5.5 Equality Implications 

 
There will be temporary unavailability of the existing disability changing/toilet 
provision during the works. This will be mitigated as far as possible and customers 

given appropriate advice and notice. 
 

5.6 Human Resources Implications 
 
None arising directly from this report. 

 
    Health and Safety Implications 

     
The slips, trips and falls data suggests that further accidents will occur if a long-term 
solution is not implemented. The health and safety implications are set out in more 

detail in the private appendix. 
 

 

Page 27



 

5.7 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 
 

Minimising the closure period will be a key requirement with regards to the social 
impact, particularly after recent periods of isolation caused by the national 
lockdowns. 

 

 

Ward(s):   Claines 
Contact Officer: Alan New (Contracts & Performance Manager) 
 Tel: 01905 722211/07973 612320 

 e-mail: alan.new@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: None  

 
 

Page 28



 

 

Appendix 1 - Financial Review 
 

The financial implications to the Council to date and anticipated additional costs are 
itemised in the following tables. 

 

Costs incurred to date 

 
Contractor Works Completed Date £ 

 

National Testing 

Services 

Complete an unannounced  pendulum test 

and provide a report outlining the results 

21/03/19 660  

National Testing 

Services 

Complete a pre-arranged pendulum test 

following overnight deep clean by 

Freedom Leisure staff and provide a 

report outlining the results 

22/03/19 660  

National Testing 

Services 

Testing of original tiles (factory condition) 

in laboratory conditions  and provide a 

report outlining the findings 

22/03/19 460  

The Safe Group Professional deep clean, application of an 

anti-slip treatment and completion of a 

pendulum test and report outlining the 

results 

w/c 29/06/20 13,240  

The Safe Group Professional deep clean, application of an 

anti-slip treatment and completion of a 

pendulum test and report outlining the 

results 

w/c 30/11/20 8,424  

National Testing 

Services 

Complete a pre-arranged pendulum test 

following the follow up visit from the Safe 

Group and provide a report outlining the 

results 

08/01/21 660  

Leisure TEQ 50% contribution towards the cost of 

installing anti-slip safety matting  

29/03/21 8,120  

Total costs incurred to date 
32,224 

 

Estimated further costs 

Contractor Works to be undertaken Date 
£ 

Contractor - TBC Replacement of floor tiles in changing 

village, poolside and ancillary areas 

Date TBC 154,000  

  

Consultant Fees 

 23,100  

Contractor - TBC Complete an industrial deep clean Date TBC 5,000  

Page 29



 

following completion of the works 

Freedom Leisure Claim from the Leisure Operator for loss 

of profits during any necessary closure 

period 

Date TBC  120,000  

 TOTAL COST TO WCC TOTAL 302,100  

    

 
 

Page 30



 

 
 

Report to: Council, 13th July 2021 
 

Report of: Chair, Standards Committee 
 

 
Subject: REFERRAL REPORT FROM STANDARDS COMMITTEE – STANDARDS 

COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 
 
1. Recommendation 

 
1.1 That the Council receive the Standards Committee Annual Report 2020/21. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The Annual Report was considered by the Standards Committee at its meeting on 

23rd June 2021 and provides a summary of the work undertaken by the Committee in 

the 2020/21 municipal year. 

2.2 The Annual Report shows how the Committee has achieved its objectives over the 

last year in promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, Co-
opted Members and Parish Councillors. 
 

3. Information  
 

3.1 The Annual Report is attached for information.  

 
 

Ward(s):   All Wards 
Contact Officer: Sian Stroud, Deputy Director - Governance and Monitoring 

Officer – Tel: 01905 722019 
Background Papers: None 
 

 
  

Page 31 Agenda Item 10b



This page is intentionally left blank



$yhqy5fuo.doc/02/07/21 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

WORCESTER CITY COUNCIL  

 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE  

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

2020/21 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 10b
Appendix 1



2 
 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 2020/21 

 
1. Introduction and Background 
 

1.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, local authorities are responsible for their own 
standards arrangements, including promoting and maintaining high standards of 

conduct and having mechanisms in place to investigate complaints and make 
decisions on them. 

 

2. The Standards Committee 
 

2.1 The role and function of the Committee are set out in the Council’s Constitution, as 
follows: 

 
 (a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, Co-opted 

Members and Parish Councillors. 

 (b) Advising the City Council and its Parish Councils on the adoption and 
amendment of local Codes of Conduct for Councillors, protocols for member 

officer relations, whistleblowing policies and complaints procedures collectively 
known as Local Codes. 

 (c) Monitoring the operation of the Local Codes adopted by the City Council and its 

Parish Councils. 
 (d) Advising and training or arranging for the training of City Councillors, Parish 

Councillors, Co-opted Members and Officers on matters relating to the Local 
Codes. 

 (e) Granting dispensations in respect of Members’ Interests in accordance with 

regulations made by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government. 

 (f) Considering allegations of breaches of the Local Codes by members of the City 
Council or its Parishes and considering what sanctions, if any, to impose where 
allegations are found proven. 

 (g) Considering reports from the Monitoring Officer.  
 (h) Considering any reports issued by the Local Government Ombudsman regarding 

the City Council, authorising any payments proposed by the Local Government 
Ombudsman and recommending any other action that may be appropriate. 

 (i) Considering any reports issued by the Local Government Ombudsman regarding 

either of the City's Parish Councils and recommending any appropriate action to 
them. 

 (j) Approving payments or the provision of other benefits to a person (or persons) 
where the Committee considers that maladministration has occurred on the part 
of the City Council and that the person or persons has or have been adversely 

affected by it. 
 (k) Considering and taking any appropriate action in respect of any alleged breaches 

of the Council’s Local Codes. 
 

3. Membership and Meetings 
 
3.1 For the 2020/21 Municipal Year, the Standards Committee membership was as 

follows: 
 

 
 

Page 34



3 
 

City Councillors  
Chair: Councillor Matt Lamb  

Vice-Chair: Councillor Andy Roberts 
Councillors Jenny Barnes, Jo Hodges, Chris Mitchell, James Stanley 

 
Co-opted Independent Member 
Mr Raymond Needham JP 

 
Parish Council Representatives 

Councillors Alan Tidy and Roger Knight - St. Peter the Great Parish Council 
Councillors Dave Carney and Mrs Dawn Merriman - Warndon Parish Council 
 

3.2 The Committee met 3 times in 2020/21. in June, November and March. As with 
other City Council meetings, these were held remotely via Zoom and were streamed 

lived on the Council’s website. The recordings are subsequently published on the 
relevant meeting page. 

 

4. Monitoring Officer 
 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer is Sian Stroud. Claire Chaplin, Democratic and Civic Services 
Manager and Georgina Coley, Legal Team Manager, carry out jointly the role of 

Deputy Monitoring Officer. 
 

4.2 The Monitoring Officer provides advice and guidance to City Council Members and 

Parish Councils on a range of issues and works closely with fellow Monitoring Officers 
from other Worcestershire Councils. 

 
5. Consideration of Complaints Regarding Conduct of Councillors 
 

5.1 Complaints made under the Members’ Code of Conduct are made to the Monitoring 
Officer.  An online complaint form is available on the Council website. 

 
5.2 The Complaints Procedure was adopted by the Council in March 2014 and provides 

that a complaint will initially be considered by the Monitoring Officer and an 

Independent Person, once the Monitoring Officer is in receipt of all relevant 
information to enable an initial assessment of the complaint to take place.  After 

consulting the Independent Person, the Monitoring Officer will decide either to take 
no action on the allegation, to resolve the complaint informally or to arrange an 
investigation. 

 
5.3 During the Municipal Year 2020/21, the Monitoring Officer considered a total of 11 

complaints. Before making a decision in relation to each complaint, the Monitoring 
Officer consulted with one of the Independent Persons from the pool appointed to 
consider complaints. As at the end of the Municipal Year, the summary of the 

outcomes was as follows: 
 

 No action (Complaint fell outside the scope of the Code OR No breach of the  
Code) – 5 

 Informal resolution – 5  

 Assessment not yet complete - 1 
 

 
 

Page 35



4 
 

 
6. Ombudsman Complaints 

 
6.1 The Committee considers any formal reports that are issued by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman following investigation of a complaint, 
where resolution is not agreed, or there is an issue of public interest. 

 

6.2 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has a duty to report when there has been an 
investigation which identifies maladministration in the exercise of administrative 

functions, or a failure in a service or a failure to provide a service. 
 
6.3 During the year, the Monitoring Officer advised the Committee of 5 upheld 

complaints by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO). These 
reports are considered in private as the Council receives the report before the final 

decision statement is published by the Ombudsman on their website. 
 
6.4  In each case the Committee discussed the findings and noted the actions taken to 

address any recommendations arising from the Ombudsman’s reports. 
 

7. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
 

7.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) publishes an Annual 
Review Letter every year. The most recent one, for the year ending 31st March 2020 
was presented to the Committee. 

 
7.2 The Letter highlighted that the number of cases where an investigation was carried 

out by the Ombudsman had decreased from 7 in 2018/19 to 5 in 2019/20, however 
of the investigations carried out, 100% were subsequently upheld. 
 

7.3  Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Ombudsman suspended all new and existing  
complaint casework on with all local authorities on 25th March 2020. At the end of 

June 2020 the Ombudsman restarted existing casework, accepting new cases  
incrementally. By the end of the Municipal Year the Ombudsman service appeared to 
be back on a normal footing. 

 
8. Members’ and Officers’ Interests and Gifts and Hospitality 

 
8.1 The Council holds registers of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

declarations of gifts and hospitality received by Members and Officers. Due to the 

Covid-19 restrictions, the Committee was unable to review these registers, however 
the declarations are also published on the Council’s website. During the year, all 

Members checked their declaration of disclosable pecuniary interests (DPIs) under 
the Localism Act 2011. These were updated online where appropriate.   

 

9. Reporting Back on Outside Bodies  
 

9.1 In March 2019, the Committee established a procedure relating to Members 
reporting on their activities with outside bodies. More recently, the Committee has 
had a wider discussion about these reports, including what value these might have 

to the Council and partners, particularly for key outside bodies. 
 

Page 36



5 
 

9.2 Last year, the Council made 123 appointments to a total of 62 different outside 
bodies and approximately 95% of reports due were submitted. These are available 

for members to read on the members’ website. 
 

9.3 In terms of emerging themes from these reports, many of the bodies are community 
organisations or small charitable organisations. The reports demonstrated how local 
citizens volunteer and work to support each other, and the wide range of community 

activities that are taking place locally. Funding and the impact of the Covid pandemic 
featured in a number of the reports last year.  

 
9.4 This reporting back procedure will be undertaken again during the 2021/22 year. 
 

10. Code of Conduct for Members  
 

10.1 The Committee considered a revised Code of Conduct in 2019, and this was adopted 
by the Council in July 2020. This pan-Worcestershire Code was prepared by the 
Monitoring Officers of the principal authorities within Worcestershire in response to 

Best Practice Recommendations published in January 2019.  
 

10.2 The Council was contacted in October 2020 by Lord Jonathan Evans, Chair of the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life, seeking a progress update from all councils in 

response to the Best Practice Recommendations. As a consequence of its work last 
year to review the pan-Worcestershire Code and Best Practice Recommendations, 
the Council was able to report that each recommendation was already adopted or 

has now been implemented. 
 

10.3 During the year, the Committee considered the Local Government Association’s 
consultation on a revised Model Code of Conduct. The Monitoring Officer submitted a 
response, in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair.  

 
10.4 The Local Government Association’s revised Model Code of Conduct was published in 

January 2021. The Model Code has not changed substantially from the version which 
was subject to consultation, except to note that the LGA has moved away from its 
original idea of introducing “civility” alongside “respect”. The Model Code has 

attracted some criticism from the sector for not adding to the sanctions regime, 
although this would require primary legislation from Parliament. 

 
10.5 The Worcestershire Monitoring Officers have taken the view that, whilst the benefits 

of moving to a new Code are relatively marginal, it might be preferable to keep in 

step with the rest of the sector and adopt the new Code, particularly if the LGA 
intended to release further guidance and case studies. Adoption may take some 

while and it is intended to complete this in time for the May 2022 intake of new 
councillors. The Code adopted by the Council in 2020 would remain in force until 
such time as a new pan-Worcestershire Code has been drafted. 

 
11. Guidance for Members 

 
11.1 The Council’s guidance on use of stationery was reviewed and the Committee agreed 

to delegated final terms and implementation to the Monitoring Officer in consultation 

with Chair and Vice of the Committee. The guidance covers use of the Council’s 
letterhead and logos in correspondence and has now been expanded to cover other 

areas including the giving of personal references. The overall focus of this guidance 
is to ensure that councillors are aware of the circumstances in which it is reasonable 

Page 37



6 
 

to be representing someone as if acting on official Council business and when it 
should be made clear that the councillor is acting in a personal capacity. 

 
11.2 Further guidance on the use of email and on social media will be considered by the 

Committee at a future meeting. 
 
12.  Training on Ethical Standards 

 
12.1 In February 2021, the Monitoring Officer facilitated a training event by Olwen Brown, 

a leading local authority lawyer and expert on ethical standards. The event was well 
attended by Worcester City Councillors, Parish Councillors and the Designated 
Independent Person. Ms Brown’s training covered all aspects of the pan- 

Worcestershire Members Code of Conduct and touched also on some other related 
ethical standards matters, including Article 10 of the Human Rights Act and also 

public law considerations around bias and predetermination. Feedback from the 
training event was very positive. 

 

12.2 Following the May 2021 elections, the Monitoring has undertaken an online training 
session with the Council’s newly-elected Members on the Code of Conduct and 

ethical standards. 
 

13. Conclusion 
 
13.1  This Committee will continue to produce an Annual Report, highlighting the work 

that it has undertaken, and this is referred to the full Council for information. 
 

13.2 I succeeded Councillor Matt Lamb as Chair of the Committee in May 2021. I have 
worked closely with Matt on all aspects of the Committee’s work in my role as Vice-
Chair, and I would like to thank him for his diligence and commitment to ensuring 

that a high standard of conduct is maintained within the Council. 
 

13.3 I would also like to thank fellow Committee Members, co-opted Members and 
Officers for their contribution during what has been a testing twelve months for all 
concerned. 

 
 

Councillor Andy Roberts 
Chair, Standards Committee 
June 2021 

 
 

Page 38


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	$$MDocPackPublic.version0001 EC
	Minutes


	8 Appointment of Members to Committees
	9 Amendment To The Scheme For Members' Allowances 2021/22
	10a Referral Report from Policy and Resources Committee - Replacement of Wetside Floor Tiles at Perdiswell Leisure Centre
	PR CAP Perdiswell LC Floor Tiles.v2

	10b Referral Report from Standards Committee - Standards Committee Annual Report 2020/21
	Standards Committee Annual Report- 2020-21- Final


